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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

NORTHERN DISTRICT COURT OF NEW YORK  

JEREMY CLAWSON, 

  Plaintiff, 

CIVIL COMPLAINT 

JURY TRIAL DEMANDED 

-against-   Civil Case No.:  

THE CITY OF ALBANY DEPARTMENT OF FIRE AND 

EMERGENCY a department of the CITY OF ALBANY  

(A.K.A. ALBANY FIRE DEPARTMENT). 

Defendants. 

  PRELIMINARY STATEMENT 

 Plaintiff, Jeremy Clawson, by and through his attorney, Patrick Sorsby, as and for his 

Complaint against the above-named Defendant, respectfully alleges as follows: 

1. Plaintiff, Jeremy Clawson, brings this action under Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of

1964, as amended, codified at 42 U.S.C. § 2000e et seq., the Civil Rights Act of 1991, the 

Americans With Disabilities Act, 42 U.S.C. §§12101, 12117 and the New York State Human 

Rights Law (“NYSHRL”), N.Y. Exec. Law § 290 et seq for  employment discrimination based 

on disability and race. 

2. The Plaintiff is now seeking compensatory damages, punitive damages, costs and

attorney’s fees for the Defendants wrongful conduct under both New York and Federal law. 
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              JURISDICTION 

3.  This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§1331 and 1343. Plaintiff's claims are 

brought under the Americans With Disabilities Act, 42 U.S.C. §§12101, 12117.  Supplemental 

jurisdiction exists under the New York Human Rights Law, Executive Law §§292 and 296 et 

seq. 

        VENUE 

    4. This action properly lies in the Northern District of New York, pursuant to 29 U.S.C. § 

1391(b), because the claim arose in this judicial district, and pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 2000e-

5(f)(3), because the unlawful employment practice was committed in this judicial district. 

    5. On August 27th, 2020, the EEOC issued a "right to sue" letters, authorizing plaintiff to 

commence an action against Defendant within 90 days from receipt of the same.  A copy of the 

right to sue letter is annexed hereto as Exhibit A. The right sue letter was received by email 

because of COVID-19 virus on September 9th 2020. 

    6. This action is commenced within 90 days of plaintiff's receipt of the right to sue letter. 

PARTIES 

 
7. Plaintiff is a United States Citizen and Resident of New York State, Albany County.  

8. The Albany Fire Department is a division of the Department of Fire and Emergency 

Services which is one of several departments of the City of Albany in the State of 

New York. Any reference herein to employer, Department of Fire and Emergency 

Services, or Albany Fire Department is intended to mean the City of Albany 

Department of Fire and Emergency Services a department of the City of Albany. 
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    STATEMENT OF FACTS  
 

9. The Plaintiff is in a protected category within the New York State Human Rights Law 

(NYHRL) and Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, in that he is a 51 year old 

African American with a diagnosed disability.  

10. The Plaintiff was sworn into the ranks of the Albany Fire Department on October 22, 

1992, the first and only member of his family to ever become a firefighter. 

11. The Department's physician, Peter H. Kelly, of Access Health Systems of 776 

Watervliet Shaker Rd, Latham 12110, has performed the Plaintiff’s annual 

departmental physical examination for the past decade.  

12. Dr. Kelly is fully aware of all of Plaintiffs medical conditions including his 

diabetes disability. Plaintiff has been approved for NYS Class A, Interior 

Firefighting, each year that he was examined since 1992.  

13. NYS Class A I  Interior is the broadest category of firefighter' s medical clearance, 

recognizing that the individual is suited for every type of firefighter duty, without 

restriction. The Plaintiff’s diabetes disability does not interfere with his fire duties. 

14. The Plaintiff has served the Albany Fire Department as a firefighter, paramedic, fire 

officer, fire investigator, fire instructor and successful fire grant writer. 

15. Under previous administrations, for his efforts, the Plaintiff was promoted twice, to 

Lieutenant and then Captain.  He is only the second African American firefighter to 

ever be promoted in the 153- year-history of the City of Albany Fire Department, and 

the only minority officer currently serving. 
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16. On January 7th of 2017, the Department held the Battalion Chief (herein after "BC”) 

promotional examination open to all eligible Fire Captains. This was the third BC 

examination the Plaintiff has taken since becoming eligible. 

17. On June 19th, 2017, the exam scores for the Battalion Chief examination were released 

and the Plaintiff was ranked first on the list of available candidates for the next 

available BC position. 

18. Because of the Plaintiff’s score, and due to another Fireman's medical leave, the 

Plaintiff was temporarily promoted to Acting Battalion Chief in February of 2018. He 

served in this position for the duration of other Fireman’s leave, after training with 

Battalion Chiefs Henderson and Newton. 

19. On April 5th, 2018, the Plaintiff returned from his temporary Battalion Chief position 

to his permanent Captain /Paramedic rank position. 

20. On January 15th, 2019, BC Coleman retired which meant that a permanent BC position 

became available. 

21. On January 18th, 2019, the permanent Battalion Chief position was offered to Plaintiff 

by Chief Gregory and the Plaintiff accepted the position. 

22. On January 22nd, 2019, the department published an Interdepartmental notice of 

Plaintiffs scheduled promotion to Battalion Chief. 

23. On February 1st, 2019, Albany Fire dispatch received an early morning call for EMS 

to respond to an injured man at a local Dunkin Donuts. The man was the Plaintiff who 

was not working on shift but had developed hypothermia symptoms including 

disorientation and confusion. 

24. It was brutally cold the morning of February 1st, 2019 and Plaintiff’s diabetes 
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disability made him more susceptible to certain types of environmental injuries, 

including frostbite and hypothermia.  

25. Albany firefighters / Emergency Medical Technicians (herein after "EMT”) responded 

to assist the Plaintiff on the morning of February 1st, 2019.  

26. The Plaintiff did not know at the time, but he had begun to exhibit documented signs 

and symptoms of hypothermia. The Plaintiff was sent to the local hospital by 

ambulance. 

27. AFD Chief Joseph Gregory alleged in his sworn affidavit in support of the Defendants 

EEOC position statement as follows “that later on the morning of February 1st , Deputy 

Chief Craig Wickham reported that Battalion Chief David Newton had heard about an 

incident that involved an AFD employee at Dunkin’ Donuts. Chief Gregory then asked 

City of Albany Police Department (“APD”) Deputy Chief Brian Hogan to watch the 

body camera video regarding APD’s response to the Dunkin’ Donuts 911 call. Deputy 

Chief Hogan said that nothing in the video was illegal, but that Mr. Clawson looked 

intoxicated.”(emphasis added). 

28. Chief Gregory further alleged in his affidavit in support of the employer’s position 

statement to the EEOC that he “discussed the matter with the City Corporation 

Counsel’s Office and City Mayor Kathy Sheehan. The Mayor and Chief Gregory then 

decided that due to Mr. Clawson’s public display of intoxication and feculent 

indecency the offer of promotion to the position of Battalion Chief should be 

rescinded.” (emphasis added).  

29. On Sunday February 3rd, 2019, during the Plaintiff’s next scheduled duty shift, the 

Plaintiff was called to the administration office with his union representatives, to meet 
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with Chief Gregory, Executive Deputy Chief Joseph Toomey, Deputy Chief Maria 

Walker and Deputy Chief Craig Wickham.   

30. The Plaintiff was presented with a copy of the AFD Dispatcher's call ticket from the 

morning of February 1st, 2019. 

31. The specific medical information regarding the Plaintiffs emergency dispatch is 

protected by HIPPA yet the Chiefs and or/their staff violated HIPPA to acquire the 

medical details of what happened the morning of February 1st . 

32.  The four Chiefs present at this February 3rd, 2019 meeting questioned Plaintiff about 

the February 1st, 2019 dispatcher's call ticket from the morning of February 1st, 2019. 

33. It bears repeating that the Plaintiff received medical attention for symptoms indicative 

of hypothermia on his day off. Plaintiff was not working at the time nor was he on his 

employer’s property. 

34. Yet even though the Plaintiff’s medical emergency of the morning of February 1st, 

2019 occurred while Plaintiff was not working for the employer nor on its property the 

employer nonetheless went out of its even violating HIPPA regulations to acquire the 

details of the incident. 

35. At this February 3rd, 2019 meeting the Plaintiff was informed that his promotion was 

rescinded. 

36.  The four Chiefs present at the February 3rd, 2019 indicated in form or substance that 

they rescinded his promotion because of his medical emergency 48 hours prior for 

which EMS had to be dispatched to provide him with medical care and transported him 

to the hospital. 

37. By now (February 3rd), signs of 2nd degree frostbite, from the Plaintiff’s exposure on 
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February 1st, had developed to the point that blisters were now visible on both hands 

and all ten fingers. 

38.  The very next day, February 4th, 2019, the department announced that the 2nd ranked 

name on BC exam list ( a Caucasian non-disabled person) was going to be promoted. 

39. On February 8th, 2019, Cpt. David Kowalski ( a Caucasian non-disabled person) was 

promoted to Battalion Chief. 

40. On July 19th, 2019, the Plaintiff received a call from Chief Gregory offering a possible 

promotion to a Deputy Fire Chief spot. 

41. On July 22nd, 2019, the Plaintiff declined the Deputy Fire Chief position offer of 

promotion because that position was a non-civil service position.  

42. The July 19th job offer provided no civil service protections and would thus expose the 

Plaintiff to possible immediate termination with little or no recourse as compared to his 

current civil service appointment, and that of the Battalion Chief position which was 

offered in January 2019.   

43. In 2016, three of the four Chiefs described above were all in authority positions with a 

rank of Deputy Chief or higher. At that time, they faced a disability case involving a 

young recruit-applicant to the Fire Department who on information and belief had the 

disability of drug addiction/alcoholism and/or was acknowledged as having a disability 

of drug addiction/alcoholism. On information and belief that applicant failed his 

mandatory, pre-employment drug-screening examination multiple times, the 

department hired this Caucasian applicant fully aware of his disability (as oppose to 

violating HIPPA regulations to acquire information in the Plaintiff’s case). That 

applicant was sworn into the Department as a firefighter recruit without conditions. 

Case 1:20-cv-01449-MAD-CFH   Document 1   Filed 11/24/20   Page 7 of 16



8 
 

44. The Plaintiff accepted the position of Battalion Chief on January 18th, 2019 and 

sixteen days later his job was revoked. In those sixteen days, nothing work related 

occurred which would have formed the basis for his removal from the position of 

Battalion Chief.  

AS AND FOR A FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION AGAINST  

ALBANY FIRE DEPARTMENT 

        

 Disability Discrimination in violation of the ADA. 

                     

45. The allegation in paragraphs "1" through "43” a r e incorporated herein as if set forth 

in full. 

46.    Under both the ADA and NYSHRL it is unlawful to take any tangible 

employment action against any person based on a known disability or a perceived 

disability. Both statutes also prohibit discrimination on the basis of a perceived 

impairment. See N.Y. Exec. Law § 292(21)(c); 42 U.S.C. § 12102(1)(C), (3)(A).  

47. Under the ADA a plaintiff must show that "(I) his employer is subject to [the 

statute]; (2) he was disabled within the meaning of [the statute]; (3) he was 

otherwise qualified to perform the essential functions of his job, with or without 

reasonable accommodation; and (4) he suffered an adverse employment action 

because of his disability." Sista v. CDC Ixis N. Am., Inc., 445 F.3d 161, 169 (2d 

Cir. 2006).  

48. The Plaintiff has diabetes which is a recognized disability under the ADA. 

49. On information and belief before rescinding the battalion chief position, the 

Defendant was aware that the Plaintiff had diabetes and the Plaintiff had a record of 

his diabetes known or accessible to the Defendant. 

50. Plaintiff was regarded and/or perceived as having the disability of alcoholism.  

51. Alcoholism is a disability under both the ADA and NYSHRL. 
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52. The Plaintiff was qualified to perform the job with or without an accommodation 

and the employer defendant has never contended otherwise. Indeed, the Plaintiff 

presented with his actual and perceived disability on his day off and not on the 

employer’s property. Moreover, the Defendant selected the Plaintiff as the 

candidate with the highest score from a civil service list. 

53. Under the ADA and NYSHRL before October 10th a Plaintiff could make out a prima 

facie showing of causation (i.e. discriminatory animus was the but-for cause of a 

tangible employment action) by showing among other things temporal proximity 

between a protected activity and a tangible employment action or by showing disparate. 

54. In this case Plaintiff can meet his  prima facie burden of causation under the ADA 

by showing that his position was rescinded 2 days after his medical incident and by 

showing that a Caucasian firemen who had repeatedly failed his drugs tests was 

none less sworn into service. Additionally, AFD Chief Gregory stated under oath on 

behalf of the Defendant that he and the Mayor rescinded the Plaintiffs Battalion 

Chief Position because the plaintiff was “publicly intoxicated”. Thus, the Defendant 

has admitted that it took a tangible employment action because it perceived that the 

Plaintiff had a alcoholism disability. Plaintiff will also show that his diabetes and 

race also played a role in his termination. 

AS AND FOR A SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION AGAINST  

   ALBANY FIRE DEPARTMENT 

 

Disability Discrimination in violation of the New York Human Rights Law NY 

Executive Law Section 296 et. seq. 

 

55. The allegation in paragraphs "44" through "53” are incorporated herein as if set forth in 

full. 
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56. Until October of 2019, when the NYSHRL was amended, the standard for proving 

disability discrimination under the ADA and the NYSHRL was essentially the same, ie 

the well-established burden shifting standard applied in McDonnell Douglas Corp. v. 

Green. See Mathew v. North Shore-Long Island Jewish Health Sys., Inc., 582 F. App'x 

70, 71 (2d Cir. 2014) Applying McDonnell Douglas Corp. v. Green 411 U.S. 792 

(1973) (although NYSHRL has a much broader definition of discrimination).  

57. Thus for cases filed before October 2019  in order establish a prima facie claim for 

disability discrimination under NYSHRL, Plaintiff had to prove that: (1) he was 

disabled within the meaning of NYSHRL, (2) he was competent to perform his job or 

was performing his duties satisfactorily, (3) he suffered an adverse employment action, 

and (4) the adverse action occurred under circumstances giving inference to a rise of 

discrimination. See, e.g., McDonnell v. Schindler Elevator Corp., No. 12cv-4614 

(VEC), 2014 WL 3512772, at *5 (S.D.N.Y. July 16, 2014). 

58. In this case Plaintiff has diabetes a recognized disability under the NYSHRL and on 

information and belief the Defendant had notice or access to knowledge of this 

disability before it rescinded Plaintiffs Battalion chief position. 

59. In response to the Plaintiffs EEOC complaint the Defendant’s Chief Joseph Gregory in 

his affidavit denied that the Defendant had notice of Plaintiffs disability and instead 

averred that he and the Mayor decided to rescind the position because they perceived  

that the Plaintiff was  publicly intoxicated. 

60. Both the ADA and NYSHRL prohibits discrimination on the basis of a perceived 

impairment. See N.Y. Exec. Law § 292(21)(c); 42 U.S.C. § 12102(1)(C), (3)(A).  
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61. Accordingly, Plaintiff asserts that he was discriminated against based on his known 

disability of diabetes and his perceived impairment of alcoholism. 

62. The Employer has not contested that the Plaintiff was not qualified for the Battalion 

Chief position nor was that basis for the rescindment of the position. Indeed, the 

Plaintiff was selected from the civil service list for the Chief Battalion position on the 

basis that he was qualified for the position. Moreover there is no issue as to whether or 

not Plaintiff could perform the essential functions of his job with or without an 

accommodation because the Defendant rescinded his position because it perceived that 

the Plaintiff was intoxicated on his day off and while not even on the Defendants 

property nor wearing any clothing to identify him as employed by the fire department. 

Thus, there is no evidence that the Plaintiffs diabetes nor the Defendant’s perception 

that he had alcoholism was in any way a hindrance to the Plaintiff performing the 

essential functions of his job. 

63. The rescinding of the battalion chief was a tangible employment action in that it resulted 

in a pecuniary loss to the Plaintiff (i.e. less in annual salary & pension). 

64. As indicated above the Plaintiff will show pretext for discrimination based on the short 

temporal proximity between notice of Plaintiffs actual disability or perceived disability 

and the tangible employment action, by disparate treatment of Caucasians who had a 

known substance abuse problem but were yet promoted/hired, and the outright 

admission by the defendant that the rescindment was “because of public intoxication” 

(alcoholism is a disability under NYSHRL) . 
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AS AND FOR A THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION BY PLAINTIFF    

AGAINST ALBANY FIRE DEPARTMENT 

 

Racial Discrimination in violation of New York Human Rights Law NY Executive Law 

Section 296 & Title VII 

 

65. The allegation in paragraphs "54" through "63” are incorporated herein as if set forth in 

full. 

66. Discrimination based on race is prohibited by Title VII and the NYSHRL.   

67. Under both state and federal law Courts apply the McDonnell Douglas framework 

established by the Supreme Court, "a plaintiff must first establish a prima facie case of 

discrimination by showing: (1) he belonged to a protected class, (2) was qualified for 

the position []he held or sought, and (3) suffered an adverse employment action (4) 

under circumstances giving rise to an inference of discriminatory intent." Fanelli v. New 

York, 200 F. Supp. 3d 363, 370 (E.D.N.Y. 2016) (citing Terry v. Ashcroft, 336 F.3d 

128, 137-38 (2d Cir. 2003)). 

68. The Plaintiff is African American and is thus in a protected class. 

69. The Plaintiff was qualified for the position of Battalion chief which is precisely why he 

was given the position in the first place. 

70. The Plaintiff suffered an adverse condition when his battalion chief position was 

rescinded because this rescindment resulted in a loss off pay. see also Vega v. 

Hempstead Union Free Sch. Dist., 801 F.3d 72, 85 (2d Cir. 2015) ("A plaintiff sustains 

an adverse employment action if he or she endures a materially adverse change in the 

terms and conditions of employment."). 
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71. Defendants proffered reason for rescinding the Plaintiffs Battalion Chief position is 

mere pretext for discrimination. The Defendant’s proffered reason for rescinding the 

Battalion Chief Position is that it perceived that he was intoxicated on his day off. The 

same chiefs who rescinded the Plaintiffs position because of a perceived alcohol 

problem also allowed a Caucasian Fire Department applicant to fill a position even 

though he failed multiple drug tests.  

72. Additionally, the plaintiff is only the second African American to ever be promoted to 

an officer position in the 151 year history of the Fire Department and is currently the 

only African American officer serving in the Albany Fire Department. This would 

provide at least circumstantial evidence of racial animus when it comes to personal 

decisions at the department. 

                AS TO ALL NY STATE CAUSES OF ACTIONS BY PLAINTIFF 

AGAINST ALBANY FIRE DEPARTMENT 

 

Disability & Racial Discrimination in violation of the New York Human Rights Law 

NY Executive Law Section 296 et. seq. As Amended October 11th  2019 

 

73. The allegation in paragraphs "64" through "71” are incorporated herein as if set forth in 

full. 

74. For cases alleging discrimination under NYSHRL after October 11th of 2019 the law 

was amended in relevant part to read that it us unlawful for an employer… “to subject 

any individual to harassment because of an individual's age, race, creed, color, …, 

disability, predisposing genetic characteristics, … or because the individual has opposed 

any practices forbidden under this article or because the individual has filed a 

complaint… regardless of whether such harassment would be considered severe or 

pervasive under precedent applied to harassment claims.” 
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75. The Appellate Division 2nd department has held that the amendment to the law applies 

to all cases filed after the laws amendment even where the acts alleged occurred before 

the passage of the amendment. See Golston-green v City of New York, 2020 NY Slip 

Op 2768 - NY: Appellate Div., 2nd Dept. 2020.  

76. In this case the Plaintiff is an African American with a diabetes disability who also 

perceived as having an alcoholism disability. 

77.  Under the amended NYSHRL a demotion or as in this case rescindment of a permanent 

position is unlawful harassment. See New York Human Rights Law NY Executive Law 

Section 296 et. seq.  (“harassment is an unlawful discriminatory practice when it 

subjects an individual to inferior terms, conditions or privileges of employment because 

of the individual's membership in one or more of the protected categories.”) 

78.  In this case the Plaintiff’ position was rescinded which is clearly an inferior term, 

condition or privilege of employment. 

79. As of October of 2019, a Plaintiff no longer has to show the existence of an individual 

to whom the employee's treatment must be compared in order to prevail on a 

discrimination claim under NYSHRL. Thus, a Plaintiff no longer must show that 

someone outside his protected class was treated more favorably in order to prove 

discrimination. New York Human Rights Law NY Executive Law Section 296 et. seq.  

(“Nothing in this section shall imply that an employee must demonstrate the existence 

of an individual to whom the employee's treatment must be compared”). Instead now 

the Plaintiff merely has to show that he was subjected to inferior terms of employment 

like for example a demotion.  
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80.  Once a Plaintiff has shown that he has been subjected to inferior terms of employment. 

The Defendant can raise as an affirmative defense that the harassing conduct does not 

rise above the level of what a reasonable victim of discrimination with the same 

protected characteristic or characteristics would consider petty slights or trivial 

inconveniences. 

81. In this case the Plaintiff will benefit from the Amendments requirement of  an 

independent liberal analysis to accomplish remedial purposes, as well as the narrow 

construction of exceptions and exemptions (see Executive Law § 300, as amended by L 

2019, ch 160, § 6). 

WHEREFORE, plaintiff respectfully requests that this court enter a judgment: 

1. Declaring that the acts and practices of the agency as complained of herein are in violation 

of Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, NYSHRL, the ADA and constitute the basis 

for awarding back pay with interest, compensatory damages, other lost benefits, and such 

other further relief as to this Court seems just and proper. 

2. Award to the Plaintiff Jeremy Clawson compensatory damages in each cause of action in 

an amount to be proven at trial. 

3. Award to the Plaintiff Jeremy Clawson exemplary damages in each cause of action in an 

amount to be proven at trial. 

4. Award Plaintiff Jeremy Clawson the costs, disbursements and attorney’s fees for the 

prosecution of this matter along with such other and further relief as the Court may deem 

just and proper. 

5. Award damages under State and Federal law in such way as to maximize the Plaintiffs 

possible award. In the Second Circuit various courts at their discretion have awarded all 
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punitive damages under federal law and compensatory damages under state law. Under New 

York State law there is no cap on compensatory damages in sexual discrimination cases, but 

punitive damages are not recoverable. 

DATED: 

November 24, 2020             LAW OFFICE OF PATRICK SORSBY PLLC 

             By      S/    

                        Patrick Sorsby 

          Bar Roll No.: 517840 

          Attorney for Plaintiff 

         1568 Central Avenue 

         Albany, NY 12205 

                   Phone: (518) 545-4529 

               E-mail: sorsbylaw@gmail.com 
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950 Pennsylvania Avenue, N.W.
Karen Ferguson , EMP, PHB, Room 4701
Washington, DC 20530
 
August 27, 2020
 

Mr. Jeremy Clawson
c/o Patrick Sorsby, Esquire
Law Office of Patrick Sorsby
1568 Central Ave.
Albany, NY  12205
 
Re:  EEOC Charge Against City of Albany, Dept. of Fire & Emergency Services, et al.
							 No. 525202000302
 
Dear Mr. Clawson:
 
     Because you filed the above charge with the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission, and
more than 180 days have elapsed since the date the Commission assumed jurisdiction over the charge,
and no suit based thereon has been filed by this Department, and because you through your attorney
have specifically requested this Notice, you are hereby notified that you have the right to institute a
civil action against the above-named respondent under:  Title I of the Americans with Disabilities Act
of 1990,  42 U.S.C. 12111, et seq., and,  Title V, Section 503 of the Act, 42 U.S.C. 12203. 
 
     If you choose to commence a civil action, such suit must be filed in the appropriate Court within
90 days of your receipt of this Notice.  
 
     The investigative file pertaining to your case is located in the EEOC Buffalo Local Office, Buffalo,
NY. 
 
     This Notice should not be taken to mean that the Department of Justice has made a judgment as to
whether or not your case is meritorious.  
 
                                                                                            Sincerely, 
 
                                                                                        Eric S. Dreiband 
                                                                                 Assistant Attorney General 
                                                                                    Civil Rights Division 
 
                                                                              by        /s/ Karen L. Ferguson   
                                                                                       Karen L. Ferguson 
                                                                             Supervisory Civil Rights Analyst 
                                                                              Employment Litigation Section 
 
 
cc: Buffalo Local Office, EEOC
   City of Albany, Dept. of Fire & Emergency Services, et al.

U.S. Department of Justice
Civil Rights Division
NOTICE OF RIGHT TO SUE WITHIN 90 DAYS

VIA EMAIL
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